IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

DEC 0 3 2007

DECARLOS JENKINS

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLANT

V. .

.

ĸ

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.2007-KA-00399-COA

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

Leslie S. Lee, Miss. Bar No. 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DECARLOS JENKINS

APPELLANT

V.

.

NO.2007-KA-00399-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 4
ARGUMENT
ISSUE NO. 1 THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICTS
ISSUE NO. 2 THE VERDICTS WERE AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE
ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN ADMITTING STATE'S EXHIBIT 11 WITHOUT A SUFFICIENT CHAIN OF CUSTODY
ISSUE NO. 4 TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY SENTENCED APPELLANT IN ABSENTIA
ISSUE NO. 5. JENKINS'S SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER FOR POSSESSION OF ESSENTIALLY A MISDEMEANOR AMOUNT OF COCAINE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE CRIME AND CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT
ISSUE 6: THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR GRANTING AN ABSTRACT INSTRUCTION ON EXAMPLES OF DIRECT AND CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

. .

Cases:

Bell v. State, 769 So.2d 247 (Miss. App. 2000) 18, 19
Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188 (Miss.1989)
Brooks v. State, 761 So.2d 944 (Miss.App. 2000) 11
Butler v. State, 592 So.2d 983 (Miss.1991) 12, 13
Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836 (Miss. 2005) 6
Carmichael v. State, 832 So.2d 568 (Miss.App. 2002) 14
Carr v. State, 208 So. 2d 886 (Miss. 1968) 6
Clowers v. State, 522 So.2d 762 (Miss.1988) 16, 17
Davis v. State, 724 So. 2d 342 (Miss. 1998) 18
Ellis v. State, 934 So.2d 1000 (Miss.2006) 12
Gallego v. United States, 276 F.2d 914 (9th Cir. 1960)
Gibson v. State, 503 So.2d 230 (Miss.1987) 11
Hawthorne v. State, 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004)
Hemphill v. State, 566 So.2d 207 (Miss.1990) 11
Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948 (Miss.1997) 8
Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996) 17
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979) 6
Keys v. State, 478 So.2d 266 (Miss. 1985) 20
<i>Kidd v. State</i> , 258 So.2d 423 (Miss. 1972)

Kitchens v. State, 300 So.2d 922 (Miss. 1974) 21
Mack v. State, 481 So.2d 793 (Miss.1985) 20
McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130 (Miss.1987) 8
<i>McGruder v. Puckett</i> , 954 F.2d 313 (5th Cir.1992) 17
Monk v. State, 532 So.2d 592 (Miss.1988) 13
Nalls v. State, 651 So.2d 1074 (Miss.1995) 10
Nix v. State, 276 So.2d 652 (Miss. 1973) 12
Oby v. State, 827 So.2d 731 (Miss.App. 2002) 17
Robinson v. State, 758 So.2d 480 (Miss. App. 2000)
Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263 (1980) 18
Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983) 16, 17, 19
Constitutional Authorities:
U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment
U.S. Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment 15, 16
Mississippi Constitution, Art. 3 § 28 16
Statutory Authority:
Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139(c)(1)(A) (Supp. 2005) 15
Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-83 (1972) 1, 19
Rules:
Miss. R. Evid. 901(a)

. ,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1 THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICTS.

<u>ISSUE NO. 2 THE VERDICTS WERE AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT</u> OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN ADMITTING STATE'S EXHIBIT 11 WITHOUT A SUFFICIENT CHAIN OF CUSTODY.

ISSUE NO. 4 TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY SENTENCED APPELLANT IN ABSENTIA.

ISSUE NO. 5. JENKINS'S SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER FOR POSSESSION OF ESSENTIALLY A MISDEMEANOR AMOUNT OF COCAINE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE CRIME AND CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

ISSUE 6: THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR GRANTING AN ABSTRACT INSTRUCTION ON EXAMPLES OF DIRECT AND CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crimes of Count I, Possession of Cocaine, in the amount of one-tenth (0.1) gram but less than (2) grams, and Count II, Possession of Marijuana, Less than 30 Grams, a misdemeanor, against the appellant, Decarlos Jenkins. C.P. 9-10, R.E. 13-14. According to the sentencing order, the trial judge found that Jenkins escaped prior to his sentencing hearing. The trial judge proceeded with sentencing in absentia. The court found Jenkins to be an habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-83 (1972), and sentenced him to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole or probation in Count I. C.P.

Supplemental C.P. Volume 1, 1-3, R.E. 19-21. In Count II, Appellant was sentenced to a fine of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00). Supplemental C.P. Volume 1, 4-5, R.E. 22-23. An Amended Notice of Appeal was subsequently filed on October 23, 2007, to include the sentencing judgment¹. R.E. 24. These convictions followed a jury trial on February 2, 2007, with sentencing on October 11, 2007, Honorable Charles E. Webster, Circuit Judge, presiding. Jenkins is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the trial testimony, a search warrant was executed at a residence located at 451 Garfield Street in Clarksdale, Mississippi on October 11, 2006. Tr. 25. The search was conducted by the Clarksdale Police Department and the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics (MBN). Tr. 60. Jenkins, along with Marcus McCollough and a small infant were present in the residence when it was searched. Tr. 45.

Officer Joseph Wide was on the entry team. Tr. 98. He saw Jenkins running toward the kitchen. Wide patted Jenkins down to make sure he did not have a weapon. Tr. 99-100. However, Wide testified he did not pat down Jenkins's shirt pocket. Tr. 109. Wide did remember that Jenkins was wearing a grayish-white dress shirt with a pocket on the front. He was shown Ex. S-11 and testified that was the shirt Jenkins was wearing. Tr. 102. He admitted there were no identifying markings on the shirt. Tr. 103.

¹ This pleading is located in the Court's files, as it was filed after the Clerk's Papers were prepared by the circuit court clerk.

MBN Agent James Jones testified that he entered the residence after it was secured. While searching Jenkins, he located two rock-like substances in his pocket and some leafy-substance. Tr. 60-62. Agent Jones notified Corporal Ricky Bridges, who took a pictures of the contents of the pocket. Tr. 62, 46, Ex. S-1(a). Jones described the shirt Jenkins was wearing as a short-sleeve grayish type shirt with a front pocket. Tr. 64. He testified Ex. S-11 was the shirt Jenkins was wearing when he was arrested. Tr. 65. He was unaware of any picture being taken which included Jenkins's face with the shirt. Tr. 67.

The items taken from the shirt pocket were collected to be sent to the Crime Lab. Tr. 47, Ex. S-3. Corporal Bridges also testified that Ex. S-11 was the shirt Jenkins was wearing when arrested. Tr. 50. Bridges testified, however, that the shirt was not seized at the time of Jenkins's arrest. Tr. 51. Bridges also confirmed that no picture existed which showed Jenkins wearing the shirt. Tr. 52. After his arrest, Jenkins was taken to the Clarksdale Police Department and then on to the Coahoma County Detention Center. Tr. 65.

Sergeant Leroy Austin testified as to the procedure of booking a prisoner into the Coahoma County Jail. All of an arrestee's clothes are taken, except for his underwear, and placed in a property bin. Tr. 121. Austin testified that the Jenkins's Inmate Movement Sheet indicated Jenkins's clothes were put into bin number 95. Tr. 122, Ex. S-13. Austin admitted that Officer Hite is the one who actually booked Jenkins into the jail. Austin was not present at the time. Tr. 123. Austin also testified he had no idea who may have accessed the bin while Officer Hite was on duty. Tr. 126-27. A total of four sergeants have access to the

room where the bins are kept. He also stated that an inventory is not taken of what property is placed in the bins. Tr. 127.

Bridges later went to the jail and retrieved the clothing alleged to have been in Jenkins's bin. Sergeant Austin put it a clear garbage bag and handed it to him. Tr. 167-68. Bridges kept track of the shirt until it was time for court. Tr. 168, Ex. S-11.

Decarlos Jenkins testified in his own defense. He did not live at 451 Garfield. The house belonged to his mother². He was there that evening visiting his girlfriend and babysitting his girlfriend's child. Tr. 143, 151. Jenkins testified he was wearing a tank top with no pockets when police arrived. He denied having any illegal contraband on him. Tr. 148.

The Crime Lab examined the items in Ex. S-3, and determined there was 0.18 grams of cocaine, and 0.84 grams of marijuana³. Tr. 114.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State failed to establish the chain of custody of the shirt appellant was alleged to have been wearing at the time of his arrest. This shirt contained a front pocket where officers claimed a small amount of cocaine and marijuana were found. Appellant testified that he was wearing a tank top and the shirt produced in court was not the shirt he had on when

²His mother, Maxine Mullins, also testified and confirmed 451 Garfield was her house and that Jenkins did not live there. Tr. 132-33.

³For the sake of judicial economy, only the facts relating to Jenkins's conviction will be discussed. Since Jenkins was not convicted of possessing the larger amounts of the drugs found in the house, those facts have been omitted.

arrested. The officer who removed appellant's clothes at the jail was never called to testify by the State. The State was required to establish the chain of custody once the allegation of substitution was made by the defendant. Based on the testimony presented, the evidence was clearly insufficient to show possession of the contraband alleged to have been in appellant's pocket.

It was also alleged that the appellant escaped from custody after he was convicted by the jury, but prior to his sentencing hearing. No evidence or testimony was taken on whether or not Jenkins was presently in custody or whether he had, in fact, fled. Nevertheless, the trial judge sentenced appellant in absentia to life without parole as an habitual offender. This was error. The sentence of life without parole as an habitual offender was also disproportionate for possession of .18 grams of cocaine and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

Finally, the trial court committed reversible error by granting an abstract instruction on the differences by direct and circumstantial evidence. This jury was misled by the confusion related to this instruction given that the burden of proof was different for the original charges in the indictment and the lesser-included charges submitted to the jury.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1 THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICTS ON EACH COUNT.

In trial counsel's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative, a New Trial, counsel specifically argued that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdicts on each count. C.P. 12-13, R.E.15. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 14, R.E. 17. The trial judge also denied Jenkins's motion for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case, as well has his renewed motion for a directed verdict at the close of the defense case. Tr. 128-29, 172-73. This was error.

Review of a motion for a directed verdict tests the sufficiency of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (¶15) (Miss. 2005). The court must determine whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the act charged and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Id.* at 843 (¶16) (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So. 2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)). Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, the question is not whether the court believes the evidence established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but whether a rational trier of fact could have found all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶16) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)).

As set forth by the facts cited above, none of the officers who were present at the search testified as to what, if anything, was found on Marcus McCollough, the only other adult in the house at the time of the search. The prosecution failed to call Officer Hite to complete the chain of custody on Ex. S-11. No fingerprints were taken of anything at the scene. Tr. 54. Officer Wide first patted down Jenkins for weapons, but claimed he never patted down Jenkins's front pocket. Tr. 109. Although the actual shirt is not included in the

appeal record, all indications are it was an ordinary shirt with no distinguishing marking⁴. Tr. 64, 102-03, 169-70. Agent Jones testified "a couple" of other Clarksdale police officers were present during the search, including an Officer Bobo. Tr. 66. Yet these officers were also never called. A photograph of Jenkins wearing Ex. S-11 was never produced. Tr. 67.

The trial judge commented after all the evidence was presented that the State's evidence as to constructive possession of the larger amounts of cocaine and marijuana found in house was not strongest case he had ever seen, but nonetheless allowed the case to go to the jury. Tr. 174. It should be remembered that Jenkins was originally indicted on only one count of possession of cocaine and one count of possession of marijuana, the State lumping in all the drugs found in the house together with the drugs allegedly found in his pocket. C.P. 2. Trial counsel's objection to allowing the State a lesser included offense instruction regarding only the amount found in the pocket was overruled. Tr. 180. The State only requested a lesser included instruction after the court granted the defense a circumstantial evidence instruction based on the lack of direct evidence as to constructive possession of the larger amounts of drugs found in the house. Tr. 177-180.

The evidence was clearly insufficient to convict Jenkins as charged in the indictment. The court should not have allowed the case to go to the jury with a lesser included offense option, as the evidence was also insufficient to prove Jenkins possessed any drugs on his person. Jenkins's conviction and sentence should be reversed and rendered.

⁴ The shirt is partially seen in Ex. S-1(a).

ISSUE NO. 2. THE VERDICTS WERE AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In trial counsel's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative, a New Trial, counsel again specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. C.P. 12-13, R.E.15-16. The trial judge also denied this motion. C.P. 14, R.E. 17. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant this motion.

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Id. See also Benson v. State*, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss.1989); *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

As argued in Issue 3, *supra*, the State failed to sufficiently show the chain of custody of the shirt the prosecution alleged Jenkins was wearing when arrested. There was another adult male in the house at the time of the search, Marcus McCollough. Tr. 45, 61, 151. Although there was testimony that he was searched, the prosecution provided no other information about him. Tr. 48. It is unknown what clothing he wore, what, if any, drugs were found on him, or even if he was arrested. Without the testimony of Officer Hite, it is impossible to know beyond a reasonable doubt that the shirt Jenkins was wearing when arrested was actually Ex. S-11. Without that testimony, the case, at least regarding the drugs allegedly found in Jenkins's pocket, should not have gone to the jury. Breaks in the chain of custody go to the weight of the evidence. *Robinson v. State*, 758 So.2d 480 (¶31) (Miss. App. 2000). Verdicts based on such weak evidence should not be allowed to stand. *Hawthorne v. State*, 883 So.2d 86 (¶13)(Miss. 2004). Jenkins should be granted a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN ADMITTING STATE'S EXHIBIT 11 WITHOUT A SUFFICIENT CHAIN OF CUSTODY.

During the trial, the State presented evidence that Jenkins was wearing a shirt with a pocket when he was arrested. Tr. 50, 57-58, 64. MBN Agent Jones testified that when he patted Jenkins down, he felt something that in his experience told him was a controlled substance in the pocket. Tr. 66. Although Bridges was called to take a picture of the contents of the shirt pocket, no picture was taken of Jenkins wearing this shirt. Tr. 67. Jenkins subsequently took the stand and denied wearing such a shirt. Tr. 154-55. The State failed to produce the officer who allegedly took the shirt from Jenkins on the night he was arrested to place it in the jail property bin. Tr. 123, 126-27. When the State then attempted to admit the shirt, Ex. S-11, into evidence, trial counsel properly objected.

BY MR. SHACKELFORD: I don't think there's any question that this is the shirt that was in the evidence – that he retrieved from the evidence locker. There is no - still nothing to differentiate this shirt from any other shirt of that make and size. I mean he can identify – that's like saying that that's the same flag. There are a lot of flags like it. Without some identifying notation, there is no way that he can say that.

BY MR. KIRKHAM: Your Honor, we've tracked that shirt from the defendant's possession when he was arrested on the day of the crime to the jail where he was arrested. We've had testimony as to the procedures that the

Coahoma County jail uses to take inmate's property and put it in the property room, and we have tracked it to Ricky Bridge's hands from Sergeant Leroy Austin's hands at the Coahoma County Jail to this courthouse today. Every single link in that chain, from the date of the arrest to this instant, has been tracked by testimony, by documents in the form of the inmate movement sheet, Your Honor, and provided pictures submitted on the day of the – the State would allege on the day of the arrest, showing the pocket of the shirt being checked.

BY MR. SHACKELFORD: Judge, if the Court looked at the pocket on that shirt, I don't believe even this gentleman, counsel, on the witness stand could say that he could identify it. However, there is a very big gap here. This witness, Leroy Austin, did not take this shirt from him. He only retrieved it. He did not take it from him. If they want to get this shirt in, they had to bring somebody in to say, "Okay. We took it off of him," and track it back to that evidence bin.

BY MR. KIRKHAM: Your Honor, we have testimony as to the standard operating procedure for every person who is processed into that jail, and with the exception of their underwear, every piece of clothing is taken from every inmate who is processed into that jail. An inmate movement sheet is assigned, just as it was assigned in this case, and that property is tracked to a specific bin.

BY THE COURT: All right. I've heard enough. Y'all go back.

Tr. 169-70.

Appellant is aware that the trial court judge is given significant discretion in admitting evidence over chain of custody objections. *Nalls v. State*, 651 So.2d 1074, 1077 (Miss.1995). However, Jenkins's testimony, along with the failure to call Officer Hite, or even to explain Hite's absence, clearly gives rise to a reasonable inference of probable tampering or substitution of the evidence. In this instance, the trial judge abused his discretion in admitting Ex. S-11 over trial counsel's objections. This was extremely prejudicial to Jenkins's case, as the officers testified the individual with the shirt with the front pocket had

the drugs. Without proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Jenkins was wearing the shirt with a pocket, no rational juror could have voted guilty. Without the chain of custody firmly established, proof beyond a reasonable doubt was lacking.

The test of whether there has been a proper showing of the chain of possession of evidence is whether there is any reasonable inference of likely tampering with or substitution of evidence. *Brooks v. State*, 761 So.2d 944, (¶18) (Miss.App. 2000), citing *Gibson v. State*, 503 So.2d 230, 234 (Miss.1987). The burden to produce evidence of a broken chain of custody is on the defendant. *Id.* citing *Hemphill v. State*, 566 So.2d 207, 208 (Miss.1990). Jenkins created at least a reasonable inference of tampering or substitution of the evidence by his testimony under oath, requiring the State to complete the chain. Sergeant Hite could have been called to testify as to what Jenkins was wearing at the time of his booking. There is no evidence to indicate whether or not McCollough was booked at the same time or if he was wearing a shirt with a pocket.

Sergeant Austin even agreed that his records did not indicate if Jenkins could have had a tank top on.

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