**COPY**

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**DECARLOS JENKINS**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**FILED**

**JAN 30 2008**

**OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS**

**NO. 2007-KA-0399**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: W. GLENN WATTS  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
POST OFFICE BOX 220  
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220  
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

**

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

A. **At that particular time no.** R. 126. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Kirkham: Your Honor, we have testimony as to the standard operating procedure for every person who is processed into that jail, and with the exception of their underwear, every piece of clothing is taken from every inmate who is processed into that jail. An inmate movement sheet is assigned, just as it was assigned in this case, and the property is tracked to a specific bin.

Court: All right. I've heard enough. Y'all go back. I'm going to receive the shirt. R.

170-171.

In **Ormond v. State** 599 So.2d 951, \*959 (Miss.1992), the Supreme Court pointed out that the Court had never required “every handler of the evidence” to testify in order to support its admission into evidence. It was only necessary for the proponent to show that the evidence was “what its proponent claims” it was. M. R. E. 901(a).

The rule of evidence governing the requirement of authentication or identification holds that the: “condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Miss. R. Evid. 901(a). The advent of the current rules of evidence has not changed the rule that “the proponent must satisfy the trial court that there is no reasonable inference of material tampering with or (deliberate or accidental) substitution of the evidence”; this state's law has never required a proponent of evidence to produce every handler of the evidence. **Butler v. State**, 592 So.2d 983, 985 (Miss.1991).

This case presents no evidence of alteration or substitution or tampering with the gonorrhea test at any time. Under the abuse-of-discretion standard, although the chain may not have been thoroughly demonstrated, in the absence of any contention of alteration or tampering, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the laboratory results of the gonorrhea test.

The Appellee would submit that the evidence indicates that the prosecution met its burden of proof. There was sufficient testimony for showing that the shirt was what the prosecution claimed it to be. It was the shirt that Jenkins was wearing when arrested. Jenkins did not meet his burden of proof for establishing evidence of tampering or substitution of evidence. Therefore, this issue is also lacking in merit.

## PROPOSITION IV

### **THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT JENKINS ESCAPED AND COULD NOT BE FOUND FOR SENTENCING.**

Jenkins' appeal counsel believes that the trial court should not have sentenced Jenkins in absentia. He should not have done so because there was allegedly insufficient evidence that Jenkins had "intentionally" absented himself from the court at the time appointed for sentencing. Appellant's brief page 13-15.

To the contrary, the record indicates the trial court did not err during sentencing. The trial court found that Jenkins had "intentionally" absented himself from sentencing by escaping from the custody of the Coahoma Sheriff's Office. The trial court based this upon sworn "affidavits." The District Attorney corroborated the absence of Jenkins for the record. Jenkins' counsel was present and further corroborated that he did not know where Jenkins was. R. 5.

The trial court stated for the record that Jenkins had "escaped" from custody..

Subsequent to the defendant's conviction, it was made known to the Court—I'll permit the Assistant District Attorney to further—make further comment on the matter, but it was made known to the court that Mr. Jenkins has escaped his custody from the Coahoma County jail, and his whereabouts continue to be unknown to the Court at this time. The defendant's attorney, Mr Allan Shackelford, is before the court.

Kirkham: Well, your Honor, everything that I would offer would be essentially hearsay from the Sheriff's department, but it's my understanding of Mr Jenkins, the defendant, was in the custody of the Coahoma County Sheriff's Department after the adjudication of guilty in his trial, and that sometime after that, he escaped custody, and that a search is still ongoing for him, but that his current whereabouts are not known.

**Court: Let me just inquire, Mr. Shackelford. I won't ask you where the defendant might be at this time, but do you know the whereabouts of Mr Jenkins?**

Shackelford: **No, I do not.** I have not had occasion to seek-to confer with him since the day of the verdict. Supp. V., page 4-5. (Emphasis by Appellee)

...the Court was advised by members of law enforcement, including members of the Coahoma County Sheriff's Department, that Mr Jenkins and, I think, one or two other individuals had escaped custody, and since such, time, **the court has been presented and has signed various orders and search warrants with affidavits attached thereto as concerns efforts by law enforcement to locate and obtain custody of Mr. Jenkins.** It's the Court's current understanding all those efforts at this time have been to no avail, and notwithstanding the Defendant's objection, the court is going to proceed with the sentencing and the Court's understanding,...**that Mr Jenkins is not in custody but voluntarily left the custody of the Sheriff's Department, as a such, has voluntarily waived his right to be present at these proceedings.** R. 6-7. (Emphasis by Appellee)

In *Clark v. State* , 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987), this Court stated there is a presumption that a trial court's judgement is correct. The burden is upon an appellant to prove otherwise.

We have held, "There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court." *Branch v. State*, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977). 'It is the duty of counsel to make more than an assertion, they should state reasons for their propositions, and cite authorities in their support...' *Johnson v. State*, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929).

In *Jefferson v. State* 807 So.2d 1222, \*1226 -1227 (Miss.2002), the Supreme Court found that where a defendant voluntarily, and willfully absents himself, he can be sentenced "in absentia." In that case, there was evidence that Jefferson was aware of the date of his trial, as well as that he absented himself because he was attempting to avoid being tried and possibly found guilty.

¶14...These facts demonstrate that Jefferson was well aware of the date his trial was set. Beyond that, the most glaring evidence of Jefferson's deliberate intent to evade justice was the unrefuted testimony of Andrea Dillon, his long-time acquaintance, that Jefferson had informed him of his plan to run and avoid trial. Thus, as the trial court found, Jefferson "knowingly, willingly, freely, voluntarily and intentionally ... absented himself from a trial in this cause without reason or justification after receiving proper and direct notification of the date, place and time of his trial, all for the specific purpose of escaping prosecution."

¶ 15. The trial court also found that Jefferson suffered no prejudice due to his willful absence. The State asserts that this finding is supported by the fact that while Jefferson was indicted for possession of 119 grams of marihuana with the intent

\*1227 to distribute, he was only found guilty by the jury of the lesser-included offense of simple possession. We agree that Jefferson suffered no prejudice due to his absence.

¶ 16. Jefferson also asserts that Article 3, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantees his right to be present at his trial, to be heard at his trial, and to be confronted by the witnesses against him, that the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees his right to an impartial jury and to be confronted with the witnesses against him, and that the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that he shall not be deprived of his liberty without due process of law.

¶ 17. There is a long history of precedent for the constitutionality of trial in absentia under § 99-17-9 clearly established by this Court. See **Thomas v. State**, 117 Miss. 532, 78 So. 147 (1918); **Williams v. State**, 103 Miss. 147, 60 So. 73 (1912). As for Jefferson's contentions that his being tried in absentia violates the U.S. Constitution, there is no support for this claim. The United States Supreme Court has held that it is proper to continue a trial where the defendant has fled after trial has commenced. **Taylor v. United States**, 414 U.S. 17, 94 S.Ct. 194, 38 L.Ed.2d 174 (1973). As for cases where the defendant has not been present at any point during the trial, while the United States Supreme Court has ruled that proceeding with trial in such a case is not allowed under Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, it specifically refrained from deciding whether such action would violate the Constitution. **Crosby v. United States**, 506 U.S. 255, 113 S. Ct. 748, 122 L. Ed.2d 25 (1993).

¶ 18. By our ruling today, we do not overrule **Sandoval** and its progeny; rather, we carve out an exception based on willful, voluntary and deliberate actions by a defendant in avoiding trial, such as those presented here.

In that case, there was evidence that Jefferson was aware of his trial date, and that he intentionally avoided trial to avoid being judged and found guilty by his peers. In the instant cause, Jenkins attended his trial, and was found guilty upon credible, substantial evidence. R. 1-214. He was also present when the trial court granted the prosecution a continuance for sentencing. R. 214.

This continuance was needed because of the need for additional time to obtain the certified copies of Jenkins prior felony convictions. Jenkins was indicted as an habitual offender under M. C. A. §99-19-83. C.P. 2.

The record cited indicates that the trial court found based upon sworn affidavits as well as from testimony of both the prosecution and defense that Mr. Jenkins had escaped from custody and

could not be located. The Appellee would submit that the trial court correctly found that Jenkins had “voluntarily” absented himself from his sentencing hearing. Therefore, the trial court found that Jenkins had “waived” his right to be present at his sentencing. Supp. V, page 7.

After the hearing in his absence, the trial court found the certified copies of judgments of conviction and prison records sufficient for determining that Jenkins was an “habitual offender” under that M. C. A. § 99-19-83. C.P. 2. There was no evidence of any prejudice to Jenkins by his not being present for sentencing. **Jefferson, supra**, ¶15.

The Appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

## PROPOSITION V

### **JENKINS' SENTENCE AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER WAS JUSTIFIED UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.**

Jenkins' appeal counsel believes that his life sentence without parole was excessive. Although she admits that Jenkins had prior offenses, she does not think them serious enough to warrant such an harsh sentence. She believes that the trial court should have conducted "a proportionality review" prior to sentencing him. This was based upon what she considers to be the small amount of cocaine found in his pocket. Appellant's brief page 15-19.

To the contrary, the record reflects that after a hearing, Jenkins was found to be a M. C. A. § 99-19-83 habitual offender. Supp. V, page 17. There was no evidence that a life sentence for possession of cocaine was a "grossly disproportionate" sentence.

In **Oby v. State** 827 So. 2d 731, \*734 -735 (Miss. App. 2002), relied upon by appellant counsel, the Court used the Supreme Court case of **Wall, infra**, to reject Oby's request for proportionality analysis. The Court found that Oby as a 99-19-83 habitual offender convicted of "possession of cocaine" was not entitled to a proportionality analysis.

The Court also pointed out that "the proportionality analysis" in **Clowers** was the "exception not the rule." Rather the general rule is that "if the sentence does not exceed the maximum provided by statute it will not be disturbed."

¶ 9. This Court has noted that **Clowers** is "not the rule, but the exception." **Bell v. State**, 769 So.2d 247, 252 (¶ 12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). "As a general rule, a sentence that does not exceed the maximum period allowed by statute will not be disturbed on appeal." *Id.* at (¶ 9).

...

¶ 12. Oby contends that life imprisonment is grossly disproportionate punishment for mere possession of cocaine. This contention is thwarted by the scope of \*735 the proportionality inquiry. The correct proportionality analysis for a habitual offender sentence does not consider the present offense alone, but within the habitual

offender statute. **Bell**, 769 So.2d at 251 (¶ 9) (citing **McGruder v. Puckett**, 954 F.2d 313, 316 (5th Cir.1992)). Oby's situation parallels the Wall case. Both Wall and Oby were convicted for possession of a controlled substance and sentenced as habitual offenders because of prior convictions for one violent felony and one non-violent felony. On its threshold inquiry, the Wall court found that the sentence of life without parole was not grossly disproportionate to a habitual offender's crime of possession of a controlled substance. **Wall**, 718 So.2d at (¶ 30). Oby's claim is without merit.

In **Jones v. State** 902 So.2d 593, \*603 (Miss. App. 2004), the Appeals Court found no need for a proportionality review of Jones sentence. He was found, like Jenkins, to be a 99-19-83 habitual offender with two prior offenses, one a crime of violence.

¶ 42. Jones next argues that the trial court erred in invoking a sentence grossly disproportionate to the crime of which he was charged. As already observed, Jones was convicted of robbery. At the sentencing hearing, the State presented evidence that Jones had been previously convicted of attempted robbery in 1979, automobile burglary in 1981, and grand larceny in 1990. The State further affirmed that Jones had served at least a year on each conviction. The circuit court found that Jones was an habitual offender under section 99-19-83 for sentencing purposes. Shortly thereafter, counsel for Jones argued that the sentence under section 99-19-83 was disproportionate with the crime of which Jones was convicted and urged that the court conduct a proportionality analysis. After hearing rebuttal arguments from the State, the circuit judge commented, "The Court is of the opinion that the facts of this case do not even rise to the necessity of a proportionality review ... there's no inference that the sentence is disproportionate given the fact that this defendant has four felony convictions, two of those being crimes of violence...."

¶ 43. We agree with the circuit court. Therefore, we find no merit in this issue, as all requirements of section 99-19-83 were met. Moreover, Jones presented no evidence to justify the invocation of a proportionality analysis. **While the sentence Jones received is indeed harsh for the offense he committed, the Mississippi Legislature has determined that the sentence Jones received is a proper sentence for an habitual offender. It is not up to us to change the sentencing scheme. That responsibility lies exclusively with the legislature.** (Emphasis by Appellee).

The Appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

## PROPOSITION VI

### **THE RECORD REFLECTS THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED.**

Appeal counsel believes that the trial court improperly allowed the jury to receive an alleged abstract circumstantial evidence instruction, instruction C-11, which she believes was an attempt at providing a definition for the jury. She believes that this instruction may have mislead the jury. Appellant's brief page 19-20.

To the contrary, the record reflects that the jury was properly instructed. Instruction C-11 was granted along with a host of other instructions including instruction C-10 on constructive possession. C.P. 22-37.

The record reflects that there was never any specific objection by Jenkins' counsel that C-11 was "an abstract instruction." The only objection was that the instruction "goes beyond the law."

Shackelford: I'm going to object to these examples, Judge. **I believe it goes beyond the law.** R. 191. (Emphasis by Appellee).

The record also reflects while the granting of jury instruction C-11 was included in a motion for a JNOV, there was no statement of the specific grounds for why this was alleged error by the trial court. C.P. 13.

In **Haddox v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994), the Court stated without an objection on the same grounds argued on appeal the issue was waived.

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